# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/6/2020 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 98723-8

Court of Appeals No. 36046-6-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES PATTON GEARHARD,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID M. WALL CHIEF DEPUTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney 205 S. Columbus Avenue, MS-CH-18 Goldendale, Washington 98620 (509) 773 – 5838

Attorney for Petitioner State of Washington

# **

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the spring of 2016, J.C., who turned 15 at around that time, revealed to a psychiatrist that on the prior July 3 he had been sexually molested by James Gearhard, the 56-year-old neighbor of his grandfather. J.C. reported that he was helping Mr. Gearhard with work on his rural property, had stayed overnight, and awakened to discover Mr. Gearhard standing next to him, with his hand down J.C.'s pants, touching his genitals. J.C. would later testify that he said to Mr. Gearhard, "[S]top, get off me," and Mr. Gearhard backed up and said, "[S]orry, I thought you'd like it." Report of Proceedings (RP) (Trial) at 61-62. The psychiatrist, a mandatory reporter, notified Child Protective Services. Sometime later, Detective Erik Anderson contacted J.C. and his mother.

The detective obtained J.C.'s agreement to participate in a pretext phone call to Mr. Gearhard. As later explained by the trial court, a pretext phone call is a "ruse[,] wherein the alleged victim of a crime would call a

suspect . . . to try and get the suspect to make incriminating statements . . . while the suspect is talking to the alleged victim and while law enforcement is listening in." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 84-85. During the call, Detective Anderson sat next to J.C., close enough to hear through the phone's earpiece, and took notes. A recording device was placed on a table a couple of feet from J.C. and the detective. While allegedly not the detective's intention, the recording device captured not only J.C.'s side of the conversation, but also much of Mr. Gearhard's side of the conversation. Detective Anderson did not have a warrant to record Mr. Gearhard.

During the call, J.C. told Mr. Gearhard he had told a friend about what happened at Mr. Gearhard's house on July 3, the friend told the police, and the police were coming to speak with J.C. about it. J.C. told Mr. Gearhard he was not sure what to do and asked Mr. Gearhard for advice. Although Mr. Gearhard would not talk about what had happened on July 3, he made incriminating statements by asking J.C. to say he had lied to his friend, telling J.C. this could ruin Mr. Gearhard's life, and telling J.C. that if he did him the favor of saying nothing happened, Mr. Gearhard would make it worth his while later.

The State charged Mr. Gearhard with third degree child molestation and tampering with a witness. It later amended the information to add a count of indecent liberties. Mr. Gearhard moved to suppress the recording and all testimony about the recorded conversation, arguing that the

recording violated the Privacy Act. He moved to dismiss the witness tampering count because if the court granted his motion to suppress, there would be no evidence to support the charge.

At the conclusion of the hearing on the motions, the trial court found that the call was a private conversation or communication, the recording captured the voices of J.C., Mr. Gearhard, and Detective Anderson violated the Privacy Act. The court nonetheless found that Mr. Gearhard's statements in the conversation fell within an exception to the recording prohibition for "communications or conversations . . . which convey threats of extortion, blackmail, bodily harm, or other unlawful requests or demands." RCW 9.73.030(2). It explained that Mr. Gearhard made "a request to essentially commit a crime to not report these acts to law enforcement in this case." RP (Suppression Hearing) at 26. In written findings and conclusions entered thereafter, the trial court concluded, "The defendant[']s statements in this conversation were clearly an 'unlawful request or demand' when he requested [J.C.] not report the incident to police which would be the crime of Tampering with a Witness[,] a violation of RCW 9.72.120." CP at 75.

Following a four-day jury trial, the jury found Mr. Gearhard not guilty of the indecent liberties count but could not reach verdicts on the counts charging third degree child molestation and tampering with a witness. The court accepted the not guilty verdict on the indecent liberties

count and declared a mistrial as to the remaining two counts.

A week after the mistrial was declared and the jurors were excused, Mr. Gearhard moved for a directed verdict on the third degree child molestation charge. He pointed out that the jury's "to convict" instruction required the jury to find "the defendant was at least forty-eight months younger than the defendant." CP at 102 (emphasis added). Because the State did not submit evidence supporting that impossibility, Mr. Gearhard argued the court must enter a directed verdict of not guilty. The trial court agreed, ruling it was "constrained to grant the defendant's motion." CP at 118. A State motion for reconsideration was denied.

The parties agreed to a stipulated facts trial on the remaining witness tampering charge. The trial court was provided with a report of proceedings and the parties' stipulation that because it had presided over the trial, it "[could] take credibility into account and give whatever weight the court deems fit to the testimony from this trial." CP at 81. A request by Mr. Gearhard that the court exclude evidence of the phone call was denied. The trial court found Mr. Gearhard guilty.

Mr. Gearhard appealed the trial court's rulings involving interpretation of RCW 9.73.030, the Privacy Act, and the State cross appeal the dismissal of the third degree child molestation charge. The Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Courts ruling involving the witness tampering charge and held that State's cross appeal is barred by constitutional

protections against double jeopardy.

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals ruling dismissing the charge of third degree child molestation for the persuasive reasons set for in Judge Korsmo's dissent.

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The trial court had already declared a mistrial due to a hung jury and discharged the jurors. At that point, the trial had concluded. Directing a verdict a week after the mistrial was not a judicial acquittal because the trial already had ended. Instead, as recognized by the United States Supreme Court authority relied on by the majority, this case presents a post-trial legal error that the State rightly could appeal. See RAP 2.3(b)(3), (4); *State v. Brand*, 120 Wn.2d 365, 368, 842 P.2d 470 (1992); *State v. Brent*, 30 Wn.2d 286, 288, 191 P.2d 682 (1948). A defendant can appeal from a CrR 7.4(a)(3) ruling. *State v. Ceglowski*, 103 Wn. App. 346, 12 P.3d 160 (2000).

The mistrial was effective at the point the judge publicly accepted the jury's inability to resolve the case and orally declared the mistrial and discharged the jury. E.g., *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013) (mistrial ordered after jury polling established "not guilty" verdicts were not unanimous); *State v. Burdette*, 178 Wn. App. 183, 196, 313 P.3d 1235 (2013) (mistrial motions historically heard on record in courtroom);

State v. Kirk, 64 Wn. App. 788, 793, 828 P.2d 1128 (1992) (discharge of jury triggers acquittal or mistrial). The parties did not challenge the court's declaration of a mistrial and the discharge of the jury in this appeal, nor did they do so at trial. The mistrial was properly declared—a week before the court considered the belated motion to direct a verdict.

The cases relied on by the majority both arose from erroneous sufficiency of the evidence rulings by the trial judge while the cases were still being tried. Evans v. Michigan, 568 U.S. 313, 133 S. Ct. 1069, 185 L. Ed. 2d 124 (2013); Fong Foo v. United States, 369 U.S. 141, 82 S. Ct. 671, 7 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1962). That procedural setting was actually the key to both cases, because double jeopardy does not bar a retrial after a proper mistrial has been declared. The seminal case on this aspect of double jeopardy is Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 78 S. Ct. 221, 2 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1957). There the jury did not return a verdict on the greater charge of first degree murder, but did find the defendant guilty of the lesser offense of second degree murder; the jury was discharged without inquiry into the first degree murder count. Green, 355 U.S. at 190-91. The court noted that the verdict was both an implied acquittal and a discharge of the jury without the defendant's consent. Id. Each reason independently justified barring retrial due to double jeopardy. Id.

The latter rationale, derived from Wade v. Hunter, 336 U.S. 684,

688-90, 69 S. Ct. 834, 93 L. Ed. 974 (1949), governs whether a mistrial properly continues jeopardy or ends jeopardy. *Evans*, 568 U.S. at 319-20; *Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 753. It effectuates the "defendant's valued right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal." *Wade*, 336 U.S. at 689.6 It is this particular right that applies when a criminal trial is interrupted short of a jury verdict. *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 503-06, 98 S. Ct. 824, 54 L. Ed. 2d 717 (1978). A hung jury is a valid basis for declaring a mistrial and discharging a jury without offending double jeopardy. Id. at 505-06; *Green*, 355 U.S. at 188; *Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 753.

Evans was the court's most recent discussion of the application of double jeopardy to a judge's dismissal of a case during trial due to insufficient evidence. At issue was a Michigan trial judge's decision to direct a verdict in favor of the defendant due to failure of the State to prove an element of the crime that was not actually an element. 568 U.S. at 315. The Michigan appellate courts had distinguished Fong Foo and other cases on the basis that they had involved errors of fact rather than errors of law. Id. at 317. The Evans majority favored a bright line rule based on substance rather than cloud its evidentiary insufficiency case law with distinctions based on "labels." Id. at 322. Because the trial judge had believed the fictitious element had not been proved, his ruling was predicated on insufficient evidence rather than legal error. Id. at 324.

There was nothing novel in Evans, and the court maintained the Wade distinction between trials terminated prematurely due to procedural problems and those with substantive problems: Procedural dismissals include rulings on questions that "are unrelated to factual guilt or innocence," but "which serve other purposes," including "a legal judgment that a defendant, although criminally culpable, may not be punished" because of some problem like an error with the indictment. Both procedural dismissals and substantive rulings result in an early end to trial, but the Court explained in Scott that the double jeopardy consequences of each differ. . . . In contrast, a "termination of the proceedings against [a defendant] on a basis unrelated to factual guilt or innocence of the offense of which he is accused," . . . i.e., some procedural ground, does not pose the same concerns, because no expectation of finality attaches to a properly granted mistrial. Id. at 319-20.

There is no question that if the trial judge had ended the jury's deliberations by directing a verdict due to insufficient evidence, Evans and its predecessors would bar a second trial. But that is not what happened here. The court declared a mistrial due to the jury's inability to agree and discharged the jury. That was the proper action legally and factually. And the result of that ruling was to terminate jeopardy and authorize a second trial. That should be the end of the matter.

Mr. Gearhard then brought a post-trial motion, styled a "directed verdict," as if the trial was still in progress. It was not. The case was still alive and pending retrial, with the mistrial ruling resolving the "prized right" to have the original jury decide the case. There was no jury to which the judge could have directed a verdict. Our rules permit a defendant to seek dismissal during trial, after verdict, or after judgment. CrR 7.4; CrR 7.5. Other than a pretrial motion to dismiss without prejudice per *State v. Knapstad*, 107 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 (1986) and CrR 8.3(c), no rule contemplates dismissal for insufficient evidence for a case that is pending trial, and no rule applies absent a verdict or judgment to act upon. Entertaining the unauthorized motion was itself a mistake.

Even if the court analogize the "directed verdict" to a proper post-trial motion under CrR 7.4 or CrR 7.5, the dismissal order is still one a court reviews de novo because the trial court's ruling did not intrude on a pending jury deliberation. Post-trial motions based on insufficient evidence are permitted and can be appealed. *State v. Ceglowski*, 103 Wn. App. 346, 12 P.3d 160 (2000)

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), and (4), and ultimately reverse the order

of dismissal of the third degree child molestation charge.

Respectively submitted this 4<sup>th</sup> day of July, 2020