FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/30/2020 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 98723-8 Court of Appeals No. 36046-6-III Superior Court No. 16-1-00050-1

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES GEARHARD,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard D. Gilliland WSBA # 40474
Hall and Gilliland Law PLLC
Attorney for Respondent
1111 W. Yakima Ave.
Yakima, WA 98902
509-452-8120
richardg@handglegal.com

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals error when it ruled that the trial court's order granting Mr. Gearhard's motion for a directed verdict was a judicial acquittal that bars retrial for the Third Degree Child Molestation charge?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 5, 2016, Sarah Henry called Klickitat County Dispatch to report an alleged Child Molestation against her son, JAC. CP 73.

The State subsequently charged Mr. Gearhard with Third Degree Child Molestation and Indecent Liberties for the alleged July 3, 2015, incident and Witness Tampering for a May 11, 2016, "pretext phone call". CP 76-7.

Mr. Gearhard filed a motion to suppress the "pretext phone call" because it violated RCW 9.73—Washington State's Privacy Act. CP 6-49. The motion was heard May 15, 2017. CP 71-2. The Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law denying Mr. Gearhard's Motion to Suppress on June 5, 2017. CP 73-75.

Following trial, on October 9, 2017, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the Indecent Liberties charge, but was unable to reach a verdict on the Third Degree Child Molestation and Witness Tampering charges. On October 16, 2017, Mr. Gearhard filed a Motion for Directed Verdict on the Third Degree Child Molestation charge. CP 101-5.

On December 8, 2017, the Superior Court granted Mr. Gearhard's motion for a directed verdict as to the Third Degree Child Molestation charge and found Mr. Gearhard Not Guilty of that charge based on insufficient evidence. CP 116-8.

Mr. Gearhard subsequently waived jury and submitted the lone remaining charge of Witness Tampering to the Superior Court on stipulated facts which resulted in a finding of guilt to which Mr. Gearhard timely appealed. CP 79-87.

Division III of the Washington State Court of Appeals subsequently reversed the witness tampering conviction, finding that the Superior Court erred when it denied Mr. Gearhard's Motion to Suppress the "pretext phone call" evidence, a decision which the State has not appealed.

The court also held that the State's appeal of the Superior Court's directed verdict on the Third Degree Child Molestation was barred by double jeopardy. The State now asks the Court to accept review of this decision.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE STATE CANNOT APPEAL THE SUPERIOR COURTS ACQUITTAL ON THE THIRD DEGREE CHILD MOLESTATION CHARGE AS AN APPEAL IS PROHIBITED BY RAP 2.2 AND DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

RAP 2.2—Decisions of the Superior Court that may be appealed—states in pertinent part:

- (b) Appeal by State or a Local Government in Criminal Case. Except as provided in section (c), the State or a local government may appeal in a criminal case only from the following superior court decisions and only *if the appeal will not place the defendant in double jeopardy*:
 - (1) Final Decision, Except Not Guilty. A decision that in effect abates, discontinues, or determines the case *other than by a judgment or verdict of not guilty*, including but not limited to a decision setting aside, quashing, or dismissing an indictment or information, or a decision granting a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(c).

(emphasis added)

Thus, under RAP 2.2(b)(1), the State is prohibited from appealing a finding of not guilty.

In this case, the Superior Court issued judgment as follows in relevant part:

"Since the no (sic) substantial evidence exists nor any reasonable inference can be had from the evidence to prove that the defendant was 48 months younger than himself, the court is constrained to grant the defendant's motion for directed verdict and a *Not Guilty is entered as to Count 1* – Child Molestation in the Third Degree."

CP 118 (emphasis added).

Therefore, because there was a finding of Not Guilty based on insufficient evidence, the State is prohibited from appealing and the State's appeal must be summarily rejected.

In addition to being barred from appealing by RAP 2.2, once a finding of Not Guilty has been made based on insufficient evidence, retrial is not permitted by either the Washington State Constitution or the United States Constitution. *Matter of Dowling*, 98 Wn.2d 542, 543-4, 656 P.2d 497 (1983) overruled on different grounds by *State v. Collins*, 112 Wn.2d 303, 771 P.2d 350 (1989). Furthermore, "[a]n acquittal is defined by the Supreme Court as a resolution, correct or not, of some or all of the factual elements of the offense charged." *Matter of Dowling* at 544, citing *Lee v. United States*, 432 U.S. 23, 30 n. 8, 97 S.Ct. 2141, 2145 n. 8, 53 L.Ed.2d 80 (1977); *United States v. Martin Linen Supply Co.*, 430 U.S. 564, 571, 97 S.Ct. 1349, 1354, 51 L.Ed.2d 642 (1977).

Moreover, the exact issue of retrial following a directed verdict was addressed by the United States Supreme Court (SCOTUS) in *Fong Foo v. U.S.*, 369 U.S. 141, 82 S.Ct. 671, 7 L.Ed.2d 629 (1962). In *Fong Foo*, seven days into trial, the District Court directed a verdict of not guilty. *Id* at 141-2. The Government appealed and asked the First Circuit Court of Appeals to vacate the acquittal and reassign the case for trial. *Id* at 142. The First Circuit reversed the District Court on the grounds that the District Court lacked the power to grant the directed verdict of not guilty. *Id*.

SCOTUS granted certiorari and reversed the First Circuit, holding that allowing a second trial following a directed verdict of not guilty violates

the Fifth Amendment's prohibition that "no person shall 'be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb". *Id.* Thus SCOTUS has definitively stated that retrial following a directed verdict of not guilty violates the Fifth Amendment prohibition against double jeopardy.

In addition, SCOTUS has affirmed this decision on multiple occasions. For example, in *Evans v. Michigan*, SCOTUS "granted certiorari to resolve the disagreement among state and federal courts on the question whether retrial is barred when a trial court grants an acquittal because the prosecution failed to prove an 'element' of the offense that, in actuality, it did not have to prove." 568 U.S. 313, 317, 133 S.Ct. 1069, 185 L.Ed.2d 124 (2013).

In re-affirming *Fong Foo*, SCOTUS stated "[a] mistaken acquittal is an acquittal nonetheless, and we have long held that '[a] verdict of acquittal ... could not be reviewed, on error or otherwise, without putting [a defendant] twice in jeopardy, and thereby violating the Constitution." *Evans* at 318, citing *United States v. Ball*, 163 U.S. 662, 671, 16 S.Ct. 1192, 41 L.Ed. 300 (1896).

Consequently, erroneous or not, this Court is legally obligated to reject the State's appeal because Mr. Gearhard was found not guilty based on insufficient evidence and (along with this appeal by the State being

prohibited by RAP 2.2) allowing retrial would violation the Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy Clause along with the Washington State Constitution.

Similarly, this Court very recently addressed this issue in *State v*. *Karpov*. 195 Wn.2d 288, 458 P.3d 1182. In *Karpov*, this court held that "[a] dismissal by a trial judge is a judicial acquittal when it adjudicates the ultimate question of factual guilt or innocence. Such dismissals 'encompass any ruling that the prosecution's proof is insufficient to establish criminal liability for an offense. *Id* at 293, *citing Evans v. Michigan*, 568 U.S. 313 at 318-19 (internal citations omitted).

This Court went even further, however, and held that "[a] judicial acquittal triggers the protections of the double jeopardy clauses even when the judge bases the acquittal on an erroneous understanding of the elements of the crime." *Karpov* at 293.

Here, the State's entire argument in its Petition for Review misses the point. The State focusses on the technical timing of the judicial acquittal, as opposed to the fact that there was a judicial acquittal. As SCOTUS stated in *Evans v. Michigan*,

"[o]ur cases have applied *Fong Foo's* principle broadly. An *acquittal is unreviewable* whether a judge directs a jury to return a verdict of acquittal *e.g.*, *Fong Foo*, 369 U.S., at 143, 82 S.Ct. 671, or forgoes that formality by entering a judgment of acquittal herself. See *Smith v*.

Massachusetts, 543 U.S. 462, 467-468, 125 S.Ct. 1129, 160 L.Ed.2d 914 (2005) (collecting cases). And an acquittal precludes retrial even if it is premised upon an erroneous decision to exclude evidence, Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54, 68–69, 78, 98 S.Ct. 2170, 57 L.Ed.2d 43 (1978); a mistaken understanding of what evidence would suffice to sustain a conviction, Smith, 543 U.S., at 473, 125 S.Ct. 1129; or a "misconstruction of the statute" defining the requirements to convict, Rumsey, 467 U.S., at 203, 211, 104 S.Ct. 2305; cf. Smalis v. Pennsylvania, 476 U.S. 140, 144-145, n. 7, 106 S.Ct. 1745, 90 L.Ed.2d 116 (1986). In all these circumstances, 'the fact that the acquittal may result from erroneous evidentiary rulings or erroneous interpretations of governing legal principles affects the accuracy of that determination, but it does not alter its essential character."" 568 U.S. 313 at 318, citing United States v. Scott, 437 U.S. 82, 98, 98 S.Ct. 2187, 57 L.Ed.2d 65 (1978).

Thus the mere fact of the acquittal ends the analysis from a constitutional perspective.

However, in support of its theory that appeal is allowed, the State cites *State v. Ceglowski* for the proposition that review of post trial arrest of judgment motions is permitted. 103 Wn. App. 346, 12 P.3d 160 (2000).

Notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Gearhard did not make an arrest of judgment motion as no judgment was entered, *Ceglowski* does not hold what the State asserts it holds. In *Ceglowski*, the Defendant was appealing the trial court's denial of his motion for arrest of judgment. *Id* at 349.

Thus the issue of whether the State could rightfully appeal was not even before the *Ceglowski* court and the State has cited no authority for its

proposition that the finding of Not Guilty in Mr. Gearhard's case is appealable.

Therefore, this Court should deny the State's Petition for Review.

2. EVEN IF THE STATE COULD LEGALLY APPEAL, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN APPLYING THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE AND FINDING MR. GEARHARD NOT GUILTY OF THE CHARGE OF THIRD DEGREE CHILD MOLESTATION

Despite RAP 2.2 and double jeopardy issues, should this court decide that the State does still have a right to appeal the Superior Court's directed verdict of not guilty on the Child Molestation in the Third Degree charge, the State's argument is still without merit.

Here, the Superior Court properly followed the Law of the Case doctrine when it found Mr. Gearhard not guilty. The Law of the Case Doctrine is applicable to the Superior Court as this Court made clear in *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-2, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). In *Hickman*, the Court gave the following synopsis of the Law of the Case doctrine:

"The law of the case is an established doctrine with roots reaching back to the earliest days of statehood. Under the doctrine jury instructions not objected to become the law of the case. In criminal cases, the State assumes the burden of proving otherwise unnecessary elements of the offense when such added elements are included without objection in the 'to convict' instruction."

Id (internal citations and examples omitted).

In Mr. Gearhard's case, the State included an element in the "to convict" jury instruction that required the State to prove a fact which it is undisputed the State did not prove. Under *Hickman*, the State's failure to object is fatal to the State's argument because the Law of the Case doctrine refers to proof of the elements in the "to convict" jury instruction at all levels of a case, not just on appeal. *Id*.

Thus, the Superior Court did not commit error when it applied the Law of the Case Doctrine and dismissed Mr. Gearhard's case through a finding of Not Guilty.

In addition, the State's argument that a hung jury guarantees the State a new trial is without merit. The State offers no legitimate legal support for this argument. *Id.* Instead the State hinges its entire legal theory on the argument that after a mistrial, the State is allowed to retry a defendant thus foreclosing the possibility of any post-trial motions. *Id.*

The Court should reject this argument because even if the State can legally appeal, the Superior Court's decision was correct.

First, the State's argument assumes that the State's ability to retry a case following a mistrial is absolute and supersedes every possible legal issue and procedure afforded to criminal defendants. The State's position is based on RCW 4.44.340 which states: "[i]n all cases where a jury are discharged or prevented from giving a verdict, by reason of accident or other

cause, during the progress of the trial or after the cause is submitted to them, the action shall thereafter be for trial anew."

RCW 4.44.340 is one of numerous statutes that lay out court procedures and timelines. However, as with every one of these statutes, there are overlapping procedures. In addition, while the State has at no level cited law to support its assertion that the right to retrial following a mistrial is absolute, there is law supporting Mr. Gearhard's contrary position. For example, in Hollman v. Corcoran, the trial court granted a motion for judgment as a matter of law following the jury being hung pursuant to RCW 4.44.230. 89 Wn. App. 323, 330, 949 P.2d 386 (1997). In reversing the trial court on the grounds that there was possibly sufficient evidence, the Court of Appeals never asserted that there was any procedural issue with a trial court granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law following a hung jury. Id at 334. Counsel for Mr. Gearhard has been unable to find a single case where a Washington State appellate court rejected a directed verdict or judgment as a matter of law motion as improper following a hung jury.

In addition, the State's position violates the constitutional requirements of proof beyond a reasonable doubt as a part of criminal due process. Essentially the State's argument is as follows: while the State concedes that it did not produce evidence sufficient to prove the elements of

the crime as presented to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt, the State believes it should get a second bite at the apple because one or more of the jurors actually followed the law.

Thus, the state's position is that because some jurors didn't follow the law, the State now gets a second trial.

In other words, the State concedes that if the entire jury followed the law Mr. Gearhard would have been acquitted and double jeopardy would attach. However, the State argues that because some jurors didn't follow the law, the State should be allowed a second opportunity to convict Mr. Gearhard.

Thus, the State argues that jurors failing to follow the law provides the State with a loophole around Mr. Gearhard's constitutional right to be proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This argument defies all common sense and undermines the Washington State Constitution and the right to due process as guaranteed by the United States Constitution.

However, contrary to the State's assertion, there is ample case law on the appropriateness of a directed verdict when the State did not meet its burden of proof.

For example, in *State v. Longshore*, the court stated, "a directed verdict is appropriate if, when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, that

there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." 97 Wn. App. 144, 147, 982 P.2d 1191 (1999) citing *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 271-72, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) (quoting *Industrial Indem. Co. of the N.W. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 915-16, 792 P.2d 520 (1990)).

Whether the jury reached a consensus is irrelevant to whether there was "substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." Thus the issue is whether *any* juror could reach a verdict of guilty, not whether all jurors reached an improper guilty verdict. The number of jurors voting each way is irrelevant to the analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence. To decide otherwise would be a truly absurd result.

Finally, criminal defendants can *always* challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. *State v. Kerry*, 34 Wn.App. 674, 677, 663 P.2d 500 (1983) citing *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

Therefore it was proper for the Superior Court to hear and grant Mr. Gearhard's Motion for Directed Verdict, and this court should affirm that decision.

E. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons Defendant respectfully requests this Court deny the State's Petition for Review.